STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED
Feb 13 2026
S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

MARK S. WINGO,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000935

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did the post-conviction relief court err denying relief where defense counsel was ineffective for failing to conduct an independent investigation prior to advising petitioner to plead guilty rendering petitioner's guilty plea invalid?

II. Did the post-conviction relief court err denying relief where defense counsel was ineffective for failing to address petitioner's mental health difficulties throughout her representation rendering petitioner's guilty plea invalid?

III. Did the post-conviction relief court err denying relief where defense counsel misadvised petitioner regarding sentencing and a potential state's witness thus inducing an invalid guilty plea?

STATEMENT

On August 24, 2018, a Spartanburg County grand jury indicted petitioner for trafficking methamphetamine. App. 299-300. On May 6, 2019, petitioner pled guilty to trafficking methamphetamine before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II.¹ App. 1-20. Andrea Price represented petitioner. App. 1. Sydni Kallam prosecuted for the state. App. 1. Judge Hayes sentenced petitioner to fifteen years' imprisonment to run concurrently with his present sentence. App. 20, ll. 15-17.

On the same day as his guilty plea, May 6, 2019, petitioner filed a motion to reconsider his sentence. App. 22. On May 9, 2019, petitioner moved to withdraw his guilty plea. App. 23. On October 2, 2019, Judge Hayes held a hearing on the above motions. App. 24-30. During the hearing petitioner went forward only on the motion to withdraw his guilty plea. App. 27, ll. 2-17. On October 28, 2019, Judge Hayes denied petitioner's motion to withdraw his guilty plea by written order. App. 32-33.

Thereafter, petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 34-40. On September 3, 2024, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh. App. 52-191. Tricia Blanchette represented petitioner. App. 52. Bryan Hall appeared for the state. App. 52.

Judge McIntosh signed an order denying PCR on November 22, 2024. Subsequently, petitioner filed a motion pursuant to Rule 59, SCRPC. App. 233-241. On January 1, 2025, Judge McIntosh held a hearing on petitioner's motion. App. 250-294. On April 8, 2025, Judge McIntosh denied petitioner's motion by written order. App. 296-297.

This petition follows.

¹ Petitioner's guilty plea was taken as part of a group guilty plea with several defendants with unrelated cases. App. 3-9.

ARGUMENTS

Introduction

Defense counsel was ineffective resulting in an invalid guilty plea, and this Court should grant certiorari to review the PCR court's denial of relief. Petitioner's defense counsel was deficient where she admittedly failed to do any independent investigation in petitioner's case prior to advising him to plead guilty to a violent and serious charge. Petitioner's defense counsel was deficient where the record reflects, she failed to address serious concerns regarding petitioner's mental health throughout her representation of him and during his guilty plea to a violent and serious charge.

Petitioner's defense counsel was deficient where she misadvised petitioner regarding a potential state's witness if he were to continue to trial and about sentencing in his case.

Petitioner was prejudiced by these failures where he repeatedly testified at his PCR hearing that but for these deficiencies, he would not have pled guilty but would have gone to trial

Guilty plea and post-plea motion proceedings

Petitioner pled guilty during a group plea that involved at least seventeen other defendants pleading in unrelated cases. App. 3-9. During the guilty plea petitioner and the other defendants were addressed as a group regarding the specific questions generally asked during a guilty plea hearing. App. 9-13.

During the guilty plea the state alleged that on September 28, 2017, while incarcerated, petitioner contacted a confidential informant (CI) via a contraband cell phone. During his discussions with the CI petitioner arranged for the CI to meet another individual for the purpose of selling a quantity of methamphetamine. App. 15-16.

After the state's recitation of the facts the plea court asked petitioner if he agreed with the

facts. Petitioner responded, “[s]omewhat. No.” After speaking with defense counsel petitioner returned and agreed he was guilty of trafficking methamphetamine. App. 16, ll. 18-24; 17, 5-24.

During sentencing defense counsel offered no mitigation on petitioner’s behalf. Counsel asked the court to begin petitioner’s sentence starting that day and run it concurrent to the sentences he was already serving. App. 18, 25—19, l. 24. Immediately thereafter, petitioner stated he wished to withdraw his guilty plea. App. 19, l. 25. Then the following interaction occurred:

Defense counsel: Sir, you're making a mistake.

Petitioner: Nah this is---

Defense counsel: You're making a mistake.

Petitioner: That is not what y'all told me Friday.

Defense counsel: Yes, it is.

Petitioner: It's not.

(Pause.)

The court: Just talk to your lawyer.

(Pause.)

The court: All right. Do you still want to go ahead with the plea?

Petitioner: Yes, I do.

The court: All right. I'll find that there's a substantial factual basis for the plea. On this case, it will be a 15 year sentence at the State Department of corrections. I've indicated that it would run concurrent with his present sentence. Good luck to you, sir.

Defense counsel: Thank you, Your Honor.

App. 20, ll. 1-19.

That same day defense counsel filed a motion to reconsider sentence. App. 22. Three days later, on May 9, 2019, counsel filed a motion to withdraw petitioner’s guilty plea. App. 22. The plea court held a hearing on the motions on October 2, 2019. App. 24. Defense counsel informed the court petitioner wished to withdraw his motion for reconsideration of sentence and only go forward on the motion to withdraw his guilty plea. Petitioner confirmed to the plea court he wished to go forward only on his motion to withdraw his guilty plea. App. 26, l. 23—27, l. 20.

Defense counsel asserted petitioner wished to withdraw his guilty plea for two reasons. First, because he was not given his mental health medication on the day of the guilty plea hearing. In support of this basis of withdrawal, counsel offered no argument, but she handed over a letter² for the court to consider from Dr. Howard, a psychiatrist. Counsel offered no explanation or argument regarding the letter or this basis of withdrawal but merely said, “it’s pretty self-explanatory . . . I won’t go into it today.” App. 28, l. 1—29, l. 9.

Counsel told the court the second reason petitioner wished to withdraw his guilty plea was after the guilty plea petitioner ascertained the state’s potential material witness against him never intended to testify. App. 29, ll. 10-23. That witness was not present on the day of this hearing. Defense counsel moved for a continuance in order to present his testimony. App. 29, l. 24—30, l. 1. The solicitor told the court the witness, Randy Hollifield, met with them and identified petitioner’s voice on a phone recording with the CI and agreed to testify for the state against petitioner at trial. App. 30, ll. 3-13. The court deferred ruling until a later date. App. 30, ll. 16-19.

By written order the court denied petitioner’s motion to withdraw, stating the arguments were not sufficiently supported by a factual foundation.³ The court found specifically, the record did not indicate petitioner’s mental health issues interfered with the guilty plea and that the assertion regarding Hollifield was “unclear.” App. 32-33.

PCR proceedings

Prior to the evidentiary hearing, PCR counsel filed an amended PCR application and

² A copy of Dr. Howard’s letter was made an exhibit at petitioner’s PCR hearing and is included in the appendix. Applicant’s exhibit 2; App. 204.

³ The order is titled “order denying reconsideration of sentence.” App. 32. However, the body of the order addresses petitioner’s motion to withdraw his guilty plea. App. 32-33.

informed the court during the hearing that those were the allegations petitioner was going forward on. App. 49-51; 58, l. 16—59, l. 4. The allegations set forth in the amended application are as follows:

1. [Defense] counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel that rendered [petitioner's] guilty plea involuntary, due to but not limited to the following:

a. Counsel failed to properly review the evidence with [petitioner] and conduct an independent investigation prior to the entry of the guilty plea.

b. Counsel failed to prepare for trial and properly advise [petitioner] regarding possible defenses.

c. Counsel misadvised [petitioner] prior to the entry of the plea agreement regarding the evidence against him and credit for time served, which induced his guilty plea. Additionally, counsel failed to ensure that he had a full and complete understanding at the time of the guilty plea.

d. Counsel failed to properly address [petitioner's] mental health, specifically, but not limited to his medications, prior to and during his guilty plea.

2. Counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel in preparation for and during the post-plea motion hearing, to include failure to utilize a mental health expert, failure to address [petitioner's] understanding regarding time credit, failure to ensure availability of a witness, and failure to properly advise [petitioner] before the withdrawal of the motion to reconsider.

3. [Petitioner] did not knowingly and voluntarily waive a direct appeal and requests a belated appeal under *White 11. State*, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974).

App. 49-50.

At the PCR hearing Dr. Donna Maddox was qualified as an expert in forensic psychiatry. App. 64, ll. 4-24. Dr. Maddox discussed Dr. Howard's letter, admitted during petitioner's hearing on his post-plea motion to withdraw. App. 66-69. Dr. Maddox explained Dr. Howard wrote a letter dated March 21, 2019, stating that while in the county detention center in Spartanburg petitioner was not being given his psychiatric medication. The letter explained how this affected petitioner and his ability to participate in his defense. App. 67, ll. 1-7. The letter

explained that if he were not given his medication he would be unable to focus and participate with his attorney. The letter further stated the “sudden [cessation] of these medicines . . . could lead to worsening impulse control, difficulty with focus, physical withdrawal symptoms, and potential for significant worsening of depression” and warned that petitioner needed access to his prescribed medications for these reasons. Applicant’s exhibit 2; App. 67, ll. 8-12; 68, ll. 3-9.

Based on her evaluation of petitioner, review of his case, review of his medical records, and review of the transcripts below, Dr. Maddox opined that due to being unmedicated petitioner likely became acutely paranoid and agitated in 2019, at the time of his guilty plea. App. 70, ll. 15-20; 74, ll. 6-9. She testified that an explanation beyond the letter was necessary for the plea court to consider in order to understand how petitioner’s unmedicated state would affect his ability to understand and to plead guilty. App. 75, l. 13—76, l. 11.

Private investigator, Brian Setree, reviewed the case and testified at petitioner’s PCR hearing. App. 86-104. Investigator Setree, stated that after his review he had concerns. One of his interests was the motivation of the CI and the history of this particular CI because without this individual “I’m not sure the crime ever happens.” App. 94, l. 15—95, l. 16; 96, ll. 13-20. Setree also had concerns regarding the chain of custody of the drugs because law enforcement was not in control of them the entire time. App. 97, ll. 5-16. He spoke with Randy Hollifield, the witness the state claimed would testify against petitioner were he to go to trial. After their conversation Setree believed Hollifield never intended to testify in this case. App. 99, l. 2—100, l. 24. He also testified defense counsel never contacted Hollifield prior to petitioner’s guilty plea. App. 101, ll. 1-12.

Throughout the PCR hearing petitioner insisted that he had not been misadvised by counsel and had he been properly medicated at the time of his guilty plea he would not have pled

but would have insisted on going to trial. App. 110, ll. 12-14; 115, ll. 3-8; 116, ll. 20-24; 119, ll. 19-25; 120, ll. 4-12; 134, ll. 4-13.

Regarding the state of his mental health petitioner informed defense counsel had not been given his necessary psychiatric medications and gave her the letter from Dr. Howard. App. 113, ll. 6-12; 114, ll. 21-23. He testified that during his guilty plea he was experiencing physical and mental withdrawal from his medication, and he really did not know what to do during the group guilty plea. App. 124, ll. 1-10; 125, ll. 10-21.

Petitioner stated he spoke with defense counsel regarding his questions about the CI in his case and the facts alleged by the state. App. 115, ll. 15-22; 116, ll. 6-24. Petitioner denied having called the CI requesting he sell drugs and testified that the CI sought him out to help him find methamphetamines. App. 116, ll. 11-17.

Petitioner testified the turning point for him was that the day before his guilty plea he was told by counsel that Randy Hollifield, his brother-in-law and a member of law enforcement, would testify against him at his trial and tell the jury it was his voice on the recordings. He was also told by counsel that he would get credit for time served (517 days) on these charges. Due to these facts he decided to plead guilty. App. 120, l. 16—122, l. 21.

Petitioner asked defense counsel to file a motion to withdraw almost immediately after the guilty plea because he realized that he was not getting credit for his 517 days time served. App. 130, l. 17—131, l. 20.

Defense counsel testified that she first met with petitioner on March 8, 2018, when he was transported to Spartanburg County for his preliminary hearing. App. 101, ll. 2-7. Counsel said that despite being told by petitioner that he was not being given his psychiatric medication he seemed “pretty normal” to her and there was nothing to suggest he would not be fit for court.

App. 153, l. 19—154, l. 6.

Defense counsel readily admitted she conducted no independent investigation, nor did she request an investigator do so. She claimed she saw no defense for petitioner to put forth at trial. App. 156, l. 19—157, l. 20. Defense counsel did not contact the state’s potential witness, Mr. Hollifield, because she had no reason to doubt the solicitor’s honesty. App. 163, ll. 2-23; 165, ll. 4-15. She denied telling petitioner he would be entitled to credit for time served. App. 161, ll. 20-23.

Discussion

Entering a guilty plea results in a waiver of several constitutional rights, therefore the Due Process Clause requires that guilty pleas are entered into voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently by defendants. *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238 (1969). The United States Supreme Court has held that before a court can accept a guilty plea, a defendant must be advised of the constitutional rights they are waiving. *Id.* Specifically, a defendant must be aware of the privilege against self-incrimination, the right to a jury trial, and the right to confront one's accusers.

In addition to the requirements of *Boykin*, a defendant entering a guilty plea must be aware of the nature and crucial elements of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived. *Pittman v. State*, 337 S.C. 597, 599, 524 S.E.2d 623, 624 (1999). “Any defects in the information conveyed by defense counsel can be cured by information provided at the guilty plea proceeding. *Rollinson v. State*, 346 S.C. 506, 513, 552 S.E.2d 290, 293 (2001) (citing *Moorehead v. State*, 329 S.C. 329, 496 S.E.2d 415, (1998)). “The knowing and voluntary nature of the plea ‘may be accomplished by colloquy between the Court and the defendant, between the Court and defendant’s counsel or

both.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Ray*, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993)).

“An ineffective assistance claim has two components: A petitioner must show that counsel’s performance was deficient, and that the deficiency prejudiced the defense.” *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 521, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 (2003). The two-part test also “applies to challenges to guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 58 (1985). “A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of a plea by showing that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.” *Holden v. State*, 393 S.C. 565, 572, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011) (quoting *Rolen v. State*, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009)).

In addressing the adequacy of a PCR applicant’s guilty plea, it is proper to consider both the guilty plea transcript, and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing. *Id.* at 573, 713 S.E.2d at 615 (citing *Suber v. State*, 371 S.C. 554, 558, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007)). “[T]here is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case.” *Edwards v. State*, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011). *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610–11, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016).

The Supreme Court of South Carolina has considered the requirements of a valid guilty plea previously, including in the following cases.

In *State v. Hazel*, the Court held defendant’s guilty plea was not knowing and therefore invalid because it was made without an understanding of the sentencing consequences. 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980). In that case neither defense counsel nor the plea court made

defendant aware of the mandatory punishment for the offense they pled guilty to. *Id.*

In *Dover v. State*, the Court affirmed the lower court's grant of PCR, holding defendant's guilty plea was not voluntarily and understandingly made where defendant was not made aware of the consequences of his guilty plea.⁴ 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991). In that case the defendant pled guilty to twenty-nine indictments including grand larceny, burglary, second degree burglary and petit larceny and was given an aggregate sentence of twenty-five years' imprisonment. *Id.* at 434, 405 S.E.2d at 392. In that case the Court found defendant's guilty plea was not voluntarily and understandingly made where defendant did not have a full understanding of the consequences of his plea where it was not established that defendant understood the severity of the crimes or the sentences they carried. *Id.* The Court analogized *Dover* to *Hazel* where the defendant was not made aware that her charges carried a mandatory life sentence. *Id.* at 435, 405 S.E.2d at 392.

In *Harres v. Leeke*, the Court reversed the lower court's grant of PCR and held defendants' guilty pleas were voluntary and knowing. 282 S.C. 131, 318 S.E.2d 360 (1984). In that case two defendants pled guilty to exhibiting obscene films and were sentenced. *Id.* at 132, 318 S.E.2d at 360. At the PCR hearing the defendants testified it was their belief the plea court would sentence them to probation, and they were instead sentenced to active time. Based on the defendants' testimonies during the plea hearing and their testimonies during the PCR hearing the Court found the guilty pleas were knowing and voluntary. *Id.* at 133, 318 S.E.2d at 361.

In *Rollinson v. State*, the Court reversed the lower court's grant of PCR and held (1) counsel was not ineffective for failure to challenge the legality of a weapons frisk that led to discovery of drugs and (2) counsel was not ineffective in allowing defendant to plead guilty to

⁴ The Court disagreed with the lower court's reasoning and affirmed the result on other grounds appearing in the record.

both first and second offense drug charges. 346 S.C. 506, 507, 552 S.E.2d 290 (2001). In that case defendant pled guilty pursuant to a negotiated agreement to possession of crack cocaine possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine second offense and carrying a pistol. *Id.*

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