RECEIVED

Jun 29 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari from Spartanburg County

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge
R. Lawton McIntosh, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000935

MARK S. WINGO,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION
FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BRIAN H. GIBBS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104137

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone: 803-734-3727

Attorneys for Respondent

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON CERTIORARI

Petitioner's Issue Statements

- I. "Did the post-conviction relief court err denying relief where defense counsel was ineffective for failing to conduct an independent investigation prior to advising petitioner to plead guilty rendering petitioner's guilty plea invalid?" (Pet. 1).
- II. "Did the post-conviction relief court err denying relief where defense counsel was ineffective for failing to address petitioner's mental health difficulties throughout her representation rendering petitioner's guilty plea invalid?" (Pet. 1).
- III. "Did the post-conviction relief court err denying relief where defense counsel misadvised petitioner regarding sentencing and a potential state's witness thus inducing an invalid guilty plea?" (Pet. 1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 2018, a Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Petitioner for trafficking methamphetamine, 200 to 400 grams. (App. 298-99). On May 6, 2019, Petitioner proceeded to a guilty plea hearing before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II. (App. 1).

Guilty Plea Hearing

Petitioner pled guilty in a hearing with multiple other defendants, none of whom are related to Petitioner's charge. (App. 1-7). During the individual portion of his hearing, the State informed the plea court of the crime for which Petitioner was indicted. (App. 13). The State also informed the court that Petitioner was pleading to the lesser offense of trafficking methamphetamine, 28 to 100 grams, with a negotiated sentence of 15 years' imprisonment. (App. 13). Petitioner affirmatively indicated his intent to enter a guilty plea as announced by the State. (App. 13). Petitioner stated that he had been in prison pending this hearing for 517 days. (App. 14). The State's recitation of facts was as follows:

This occurred on September 28, 2017. Weeks prior to that, during the month of September, a [confidential informant] had been contacted by [Petitioner] about setting up a deal to sell methamphetamine. There were several conversations that were recorded between the CI and [Petitioner] all leading up to the day of September 28, 2017.

On that date, the CI contacted Investigator Swad and stated that [Petitioner] had made contact, and wanted the CI to go and pick up a quantity of methamphetamine from a location in Spartanburg County, and take it to a location in Inman.

Your Honor, this—the CI was supposed to pick up 13 ounces of methamphetamine from a female known as Amy Fowler. She was at . . . Myra Street, Roebuck, which was [Petitioner's] ex-mother-in-law's address. The CI went to the address, met with Amy Fowler, picked up the package that did contain 357.94 grams of methamphetamine.

Your Honor, during this time, the CI was in constant contact with [Petitioner] . . . getting instructions. After he picked up the

methamphetamine from Amy Fowler, he was then instructed by [Petitioner] to meet with Amy Shuler. She was at her address, and she was to give him the address and tell him where to go next.

On the way there, [Petitioner] called and told him that Amy—that Renee Shuler was going to have scales and baggies, and that they were going to break up the methamphetamine. Then he was to take, take it to another female in Pacolet. The CI met with Renee Shuler who did have scales and baggies in her purse. She was on the phone with [Petitioner] as the vehicle was pulled over, Your Honor. At that time, both the CI and Renee Shuler were—got out of the vehicle. The methamphetamine was found in a pocketbook that Ms. Shuler had.

Ms. Shuler stated that [Petitioner] had instructed her to meet with the CI, that she was to take the methamphetamine, divide it up, and then distribute it for him.

Your Honor, the whole time [Petitioner] was doing this, he was [incarcerated in the South Carolina Department of Corrections]

(App. 15-16). After the State's recitation of the facts, the plea court asked Petitioner if he believed that the State's recitation was substantially correct. (App. 16). Petitioner responded, "Somewhat. No." (App. 16). The plea court asked Petitioner if he wanted to speak with his attorney, after which Petitioner agreed that the State's recitation was substantially correct. (App. 16).

Petitioner indicated that he understood this was a negotiated plea and requested the court to accept it. (App. 16-17). He confirmed he had discussed the violent and serious nature of this offense with his attorney and still wanted to enter the plea. (App. 17). Petitioner confirmed he was guilty of trafficking methamphetamine, 29 to 100 grams. (App. 17). The State confirmed discovery had been shared with Petitioner's counsel. (App. 17-18). The State informed the plea court of Petitioner's criminal record, including the charges for which he was incarcerated at that time. (App. 18).

Plea counsel stated that she believed it was in Petitioner's best interest to plea. (App. 18-19). She stated she reviewed the discovery and believed if this case went to trial,

Petitioner would be convicted of the indicted offense that included a minimum sentence of ten years more than the negotiated sentence he would receive through his plea deal. (App. 19). Petitioner agreed with his counsel's statement. (App. 19).

Plea counsel informed the plea court that Petitioner's max out date for his existing sentence was a little over a year from the time of the plea hearing. (App. 19). She asked that the plea court consider starting his new sentence that day and running it concurrent with his then-existing sentence. (App. 19). Petitioner immediately stated, "I'm gonna withdraw my plea, Your Honor." (App. 19). Plea counsel told him he was making a mistake and Petitioner responded that this sentencing request was not what plea counsel told him previously. (App. 20). The plea court instructed Petitioner to talk to his counsel, after which Petitioner indicated that he wanted to continue. (App. 20). The plea court then found a substantial basis existed for the plea and sentenced Petitioner to 15 years' imprisonment per the negotiated agreement. (App. 20).

Later the same day as the plea hearing, plea counsel filed a motion for reconsideration of sentence. (App. 22). Three days later, plea counsel filed a motion to withdraw guilty plea. (App. 23).

Post-Plea Motions Hearing

On October 2, 2019, the plea court held a motions hearing for Petitioner's two post-plea motions. (App. 24). At the outset, Petitioner withdrew his motion for reconsideration of his sentence and proceeded only on his motion to withdraw his guilty plea. (App. 26-27). Plea counsel argued that Petitioner was on medication for his mental health to help him concentrate and cope with his surroundings. (App. 28). She asserted that Petitioner did not get his medication while in the county jail pending his plea hearing. (App. 28). Plea counsel indicated that Petitioner had spoken to his psychiatrist, who wrote a letter indicating that "it was important to continue his

medication as prescribed wherever he may be located." (App. 28). Plea counsel provided the State and to the plea court with a copy of this letter, which is included in the Appendix. (App. 28, 204-06).

Plea counsel stated that she conferred with the State prior to the plea hearing concerning potential State's witnesses, including one of Petitioner's family members. (App. 29). Plea counsel argued that the State informed her that the family member would testify against Petitioner as a material witness if the case went to trial. (App. 29). After Petitioner plead guilty, he told his counsel that his family member would not testify against him. (App. 29). Plea counsel stated that the family member was not available at the time of the motions hearing and requested a continuance until he was available. (App. 29-30).

The State asserted that it met with the family member several days before the plea hearing. (App. 30). The family member listened to some of the recorded phone calls between Petitioner and the CI. (App. 30). The State argued that the family member was able to identify Petitioner's voice on the recordings and that the family member indicated he would testify for the State. (App. 30). The plea court took the matter under advisement. (App. 30).

In its subsequently filed order, the plea court denied both motions. (App. 32-33). The plea court found Petitioner failed to present a sufficient factual basis to support his claim that the "lack of proper medical attention" prevented him from understanding what was taking place when he entered his plea because the record did not indicate that Petitioner's mental health issues interfered with his plea. (App. 32-33). The plea court also found Petitioner failed to present a sufficient factual basis to support his claim that his brother-in-law, who was an officer with the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Department, was not going to testify against him contrary to what had been presented to him prior to his plea because "it is unclear how [t]his testimony would have helped or

hurt" Petitioner. (App. 32-33).

Post-Conviction Relief Proceedings

On October 25, 2019, Petitioner filed his PCR application, which was subsequently amended. (App. 34-40, 49-51). In his amended PCR application, Petitioner alleged *inter alia*:

1. Counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel that rendered [Petitioner's] guilty plea involuntary, due to but not limited to the following:
 - a. Counsel failed to properly review the evidence with [Petitioner] and conduct an independent investigation prior to the entry of the guilty plea.
 - b. Counsel failed to prepare for trial and properly advise [Petitioner] regarding possible defenses.
 - c. Counsel misadvised [Petitioner] prior to the entry of the plea agreement regarding the evidence against him and credit for time served, which induced his guilty plea. Additionally, counsel failed to ensure that he had a full and complete understanding at the time of the guilty plea.
 - d. Counsel failed to properly address [Petitioner's] mental health, specifically but not limited to his medications, prior to and during his guilty plea.
2. Counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel in preparation for and during the post-plea motion hearing, to include failure to utilize a mental health expert, failure to address [Petitioner's] understanding regarding time credit, failure to ensure availability of a witness, and failure to properly advise [Petitioner] before the withdraw of the motion to reconsider.

(App. 49-50).

On September 3, 2024, Petitioner proceeded to an evidentiary hearing before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh. (App. 52). At the evidentiary hearing, Donna Maddox, an expert in forensic psychiatry, testified that she evaluated Petitioner before the hearing and that she had reviewed the transcripts from the plea and post-plea motions hearings. (App. 64-65). Maddox identified the letter plea counsel provided to the plea court during the post-plea motions hearing as a letter from

Dr. Megan Howard, who was a psychiatrist with a SCDC contract. (App. 66). Maddox stated that the letter concerned one of Petitioner's follow-up visits about six weeks before the plea hearing. (App. 66-67). Maddox stated that the letter noted that Petitioner reported not receiving all of his medications when he was at the Spartanburg County jail and that the letter indicated this was not good for Petitioner. (App. 67). Maddox testified that the letter indicated that if Petitioner abruptly ceased taking his medications, his mood could worsen, he could be unable to focus, and it could take weeks for Petitioner to stabilize after resuming his medications. (App. 67). She stated the letter included a list of Petitioner's medications, which included medications for seasonal allergies, blood pressure, ADHD, and two anti-depressants. (App. 67). Maddox testified she had reviewed Petitioner's medical records from SCDC, which indicated that a supply of his medications was sent with him from SCDC to the Spartanburg County jail, but because Spartanburg County does not treat ADD, Petitioner's ADHD medications were withheld before, during, and after his guilty plea while he was at the county jail. (App. 72-74). Maddox testified that the guilty plea transcript was the best representation of what occurred during the guilty plea hearing. (App. 84-85).

Brian Setree, a private investigator, testified that he reviewed the defense file and met with Petitioner. (App. 88). Setree expressed concerns about Petitioner's disposition to commit the crime of distribution because he was not aware of any prior distribution charges. (App. 94-95). On cross-examination, Setree confirmed he was unaware that Petitioner had a prior conviction for possession with intent to distribute. (App. 103). Setree expressed concern about a lack of control over the recorded phone calls, the chain of custody for the drugs, and the motivation of the CI. (App. 92-101). Setree met with Petitioner's brother-in-law and developed an understanding that Petitioner's brother-in-law did not intend to testify at trial and had not been contacted by plea counsel. (App. 99-100).

Petitioner testified that he received the distribution of methamphetamine charge on September 27, 2017, while he was serving a sentence on other charges. (App. 109). He stated he did not meet with plea counsel until approximately a year after he received the charge. (App. 110). When Petitioner first met with plea counsel, he stated they did not discuss much, but they did discuss the 15 year plea offer. (App. 110). He testified he told plea counsel that he did not want to take that plea offer and preferred a jury trial. (App. 110). Petitioner stated plea counsel provided him with discovery but did not go over it with him. (App. 110). Petitioner claimed he told plea counsel that he was not receiving his medications while at the Spartanburg County jail. (App. 111-12). He testified he told his psychiatrist about the medication withholding and received a letter about it. (App. 112). Petitioner claimed he gave this letter to plea counsel the first time they met and that plea counsel said she would give it to the "medical facility." (App. 113).

Petitioner testified he was not aware of plea counsel conducting an independent investigation. (App. 114). He stated plea counsel did not discuss any defenses with him. (App. 115). Petitioner claimed he brought up concerns about the CI with plea counsel because he believed the CI was a lifelong drug addict. (App. 116). Petitioner also claimed that he did not seek out the CI; rather, he asserted the CI sought him out, persistently asked about methamphetamines, and wore him down. (App. 116).

Petitioner asserted that he wanted a jury trial from the beginning and did not want to plead. (App. 120). However, Petitioner testified that a few days before his plea hearing, plea counsel told him that his brother-in-law would identify Petitioner as one of the voices in the recorded phone calls. (App. 120). Petitioner stated that his brother-in-law was a captain with the sheriff's department and that he believed a jury would believe his brother-in-law over him. (App. 121). Petitioner claimed plea counsel discussed credit for time served pending the plea hearing and his

understanding was that he would get that credit. (App. 121). Petitioner testified that based on plea counsel's advice concerning his brother-in-law's testimony and the credit for time served, he decided to plead guilty. (App. 122).

Petitioner stated plea counsel did not ask whether he had taken his medications on the day of the plea hearing. (App. 123). Petitioner claimed he did not know what to do when the plea court asked if he had ever received any drug treatment because he was embarrassed. (App. 125). He stated that despite his indication at the plea hearing that he was satisfied with plea counsel's representation, he was not satisfied but felt like he could not do anything. (App. 126). Petitioner stated that he initially did not agree with the Solicitor's recitation of the facts because the CI pursued him and not the other way around. (App. 129). He also took issue with his lawyer asking for his sentence on this trafficking charge to start on the day of the plea hearing because, according to him, she had previously said he would get credit for time served. (App. 130).

Petitioner stated that if his counsel had told him that the plea court would not be inclined to give him credit for time served pending the plea hearing, he would have gone to trial. (App. 134). He did not know whether plea counsel sent anyone to talk to his brother-in-law or if his brother-in-law was under a subpoena to testify. (App. 136-37, 141).

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